CDS Standards and Regulatory Frameworks Workgroup: An Initial Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857 www.ahrq.gov

Contract No: 75Q80120D00018

Prepared by: Aziz Boxwala, MD, PhD, FACMI Kiran H. Correa, MPP Desirae Leaphart, MPH Rachel L. Richesson, PhD, MPH, FACMI Azam Ahmed, BA Priyanka J. Desai, PhD, MSPH Prashila M. Dullabh, MD, FAMIA CDSiC Standards and Regulatory Frameworks Workgroup

AHRQ Publication No. 24-0069-3 July 2024





PURPOSE

The Clinical Decision Support Innovation Collaborative (CDSiC) aims to advance the design, development, dissemination, implementation, use, measurement, and evaluation of evidence-based, shareable, interoperable, and publicly available patient-centered clinical decision support (PC CDS) to improve health outcomes of all patients by creating a proving ground of innovation. The Standards and Regulatory Frameworks Workgroup is charged with identifying, monitoring, and promoting standards for the development of PC CDS and examining the current state of the regulatory environment. The Workgroup is comprised of 19 experts and stakeholders representing a diversity of perspectives within the CDS community. This report is intended to be used by the broader CDS community to advance the use of standards for PC CDS. The CDSiC will also use the report to inform product development under its Stakeholder and Community Outreach Center Workgroups and for projects developed through its Innovation Center. All qualitative research activities conducted by the CDSiC are reviewed by the NORC at the University of Chicago Institutional Review Board (FWA00000142).

FUNDING STATEMENT

This project was funded under contract number 75Q80120D00018 from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). The opinions expressed in this document are those of the authors and do not reflect the official position of AHRQ or HHS.

PUBLIC DOMAIN NOTICE

This document is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission in the United States unless materials are clearly noted as copyrighted in the document. No one may reproduce copyrighted materials without the permission of the copyright holders. Users outside the United States must get permission from AHRQ to reprint or translate this product. Anyone wanting to reproduce this product for sale must contact AHRQ for permission. Citation of the source is appreciated.

SUGGESTED CITATION

Boxwala AA, Correa KH, Leaphart D, Richesson RL, Ahmed A, Desai PJ, Dullabh PM, and the CDSiC Standards and Regulatory Frameworks Workgroup. An Initial Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations. Prepared under Contract No. 75Q80120D00018. AHRQ Publication No. 24-0069-3. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; July 2024.

Contributors: CDS Standards and Regulatory Frameworks Workgroup

Members of the CDS Standards and Regulatory Frameworks Workgroup who contributed to this report are listed below.

Name	Affiliation
Guilherme Del Fiol	University of Utah
Sonja Fulmer	FDA
Robert Greenes	University of California San Diego, Arizona State University, and Mayo Clinic
Robert Jenders	University of California Los Angeles
Brian Levy	Oracle Cerner
Chris Moesel	MITRE
Jan Oldenburg	Participatory Health
Vishwasrao (Vishwa) Salunkhe	Wolters Kluwer Health
Howard Strasberg	Wolters Kluwer Health and UpToDate
Andrew G. Ten Have	Wolters Kluwer Health and UpToDate

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	iv
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Roadmap of the Report	2
2. Methods	2
2.1 Identification of Override Reasons and Draft Taxonomy Development	
2.2 Refinement of the Taxonomy	
2.3 Validation of the Taxonomy	4
3. Results	4
3.1 Summary of Identified Override Reasons	4
3.2 Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations: Design Feature and Structure	
3.2.1 Taxonomy Design Features	
3.2.2 How To Use the Taxonomy 3.2.3 Taxonomy Domains	
3.2.3.1 PC CDS Does Not Apply to Patient	
3.2.3.2 PC CDS Delivered in Suboptimal Context	
3.2.3.3 Recipient Disagrees With Recommendation Because of Issues the Evidence	With
3.2.3.4 Recipient Has Concerns Regarding Potential Health Outcomes	
3.2.3.5 Recommendation Does Not Align With Patient Preferences or V	/alues 13
3.2.3.6 Recommendation Is Not Convenient or Feasible	
4. Discussion	15
4.1 Future Directions for Research and Use	15
4.2 Limitations	16
5. Conclusion	17
Appendix A. Literature That Identified Override Reasons	18
Appendix B. Supplemental Articles on Patient Reasons for Declining H Healthcare Advice or Recommendations	
References	22

Executive Summary

Introduction

Clinical decision support (CDS) provides clinical alerts, recommendations, or other guidance to support evidence-based care and reduce patient harm. Patient-centered clinical decision support (PC CDS) is distinct from traditional CDS in that it can be patient- or clinician-facing and aims to deliver evidence-based guidance that significantly incorporates patient-centered factors related to knowledge, data, delivery, and use. Increasingly, PC CDS is being put directly in the hands of patients to help manage conditions such as COVID-19 and hypertension during pregnancy. There is also a growing emphasis on shared decision making between clinicians and patients. This creates an impetus to monitor and analyze how recipients (i.e., patients, caregivers, and clinicians) interact with PC CDS, including whether and why recommendations are overridden.

The analysis of recipient-provided override reasons can help researchers and PC CDS developers to understand if/why alerts are relevant or acceptable to different users and can inform improvements in PC CDS logic and deployment. This analysis would benefit from a shared taxonomy to characterize and group the many different override reasons; however, there is no standard or widely adopted taxonomy of override reasons for PC CDS.

The lack of a taxonomy of override reasons hinders research in PC CDS and the optimization of PC CDS recommendations. Currently, analysis of overrides is inefficient, and lessons learned from studies of CDS performance cannot be easily generalized from one study to another or one institution or setting to another. A common taxonomy of override reasons for PC CDS can support a better understanding of the barriers and challenges to its use, and what can be done to improve PC CDS, thereby promoting adoption and broader use.

This report presents a taxonomy of override reasons for PC CDS, composed of reasons that may be selected by patients, caregivers, clinicians, or other recipients of PC CDS. The taxonomy serves as a foundation for analysis, providing a shared set of domains and subdomains that capture a broad range of potential override reasons. It is meant to be used by PC CDS developers and researchers when analyzing why users do not accept PC CDS guidance.

Methods

The taxonomy was created through a three-stage process: 1) draft taxonomy development, 2) refinement, and 3) validation. During the development process, override reasons used in real-world CDS and PC CDS implementations were identified through a literature review and soliciting reasons from CDS and PC CDS developers and health systems. The search included CDS in addition to PC CDS given the nascency of PC CDS, which means there is less literature and fewer real-world implementations on which to draw. Many CDS override reasons could apply to PC CDS as well, however, making them appropriate to consider in the taxonomy development.

Override reasons were identified in 30 articles. The team also conducted a supplemental search for literature on barriers to patient adherence with clinical recommendations, given the limited literature on patient override reasons. These barriers pointed to potential reasons for override (e.g., related to access, caregiver/social support). Additionally, six organizations—three health systems, two CDS tool developers/vendors, and one electronic health record (EHR) vendor—provided lists of override reasons from their CDS implementations; this yielded 150 override reasons. A draft taxonomy was developed by employing inductive and deductive approaches to categorize the identified override reasons into thematic domains. During this process, the team also drew on the patient barriers literature to develop domains and subdomains of patient and caregiver reasons for override that did not appear in the literature or CDS examples, but that are particularly relevant to PC CDS. The goal was to identify a manageable number of distinct but comprehensive categories for analysis.

The taxonomy was then refined through feedback from interviews with key informants and a card sorting exercise in which override reasons from CDS systems were mapped to concepts in the draft taxonomy. Finally, to validate the taxonomy the team conducted a second round of virtual interviews and used the feedback to finalize the taxonomy.

Results

Taxonomy Design Features. There are several noteworthy features of the taxonomy.

- The taxonomy domains are recipient agnostic. While some categories may be more relevant to patient-recipients and others to clinician-recipients, the taxonomy does not a priori limit who would choose any given type of reason.
- Additionally, the taxonomy is meant to be applicable to a broad range of PC CDS covering different use cases and recipients. As such, not all domains or subdomains in the taxonomy may be applicable to every PC CDS.
- Finally, the taxonomy is forward looking and includes some override categories that were not offered in the real-world override reasons reviewed while creating the taxonomy. The taxonomy includes additional (and more descriptive) categories of reasons why patients/caregivers may decline PC CDS, based on literature examining patient barriers to adhering to care recommendations and insights from key informants.

PC CDS Recipients

In the taxonomy, a recipient is defined as anyone who receives PC CDS (e.g., a patient, clinician, or caregiver). Some taxonomy domains and subdomains may be more relevant to patients/caregivers and others to clinicians, but the taxonomy does not limit who can choose a given reason. For example, a patient or a clinician may choose to decline a recommendation because of issues with the evidence or because of concerns regarding health outcomes.

Taxonomy Use. The taxonomy is meant to be used by PC CDS developers and researchers for analysis of why recipients do not accept PC CDS. The taxonomy can be implemented by health

systems to assess in detail why a given PC CDS alert is being frequently overridden, and point to ways in which the PC CDS can be improved. It can also be used by researchers when investigating override reasons. It is particularly suited to facilitating comparison of overrides of PC CDS across different institutions to share lessons learned.

The terms included in the taxonomy domains and subdomains may not represent the terms a recipient (e.g., a patient or clinician) may see when they override PC CDS in an EHR system or patient-facing application. Rather, users of the taxonomy should map these recipient-provided override reasons to the taxonomy domains/subdomains and report their results using the taxonomy terminology.

Taxonomy Structure. The Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations contains six domains, each with several subdomains (Exhibit E1). The taxonomy encompasses override reasons related to 1) the applicability of the PC CDS to the patient, 2) the context in which the PC CDS is delivered, 3) the evidence underlying the PC CDS, 4) potential health outcomes, 5) patient preferences and values, and 6) logistical and other barriers to completion of the actions recommended by the PC CDS.

PC CDS does not apply to patient	PC CDS delivered in suboptimal context	Recipient disagrees with recommendation because of issues with the evidence	Recipient has concerns regarding potential health outcomes	Recommendation does not align with patient preferences or values	Recommendation is not convenient or feasible
Patient does not meet eligibility for recommendation	Could not address recommendation due to limited time	Recommendation does not align with the latest evidence	Benefits outweigh risks*	Patient fears discomfort from complying with recommendation	Patient has inadequate caregiver/social support
Patient has contraindication to recommendation	PC CDS delivered at wrong time in workflow or patient lifeflow	Advice from expert contradicts the recommendation	Action taken to mitigate risk of negative outcome	Patient does not want to change behavior or believes the change is unnecessary	Treatment or – service is not practically available
Patient has indication/order for planned action	PC CDS delivered to inappropriate recipient-role	Institutional policy/guideline contradicts the recommendation	Recommendation likely to have negative health outcomes	Patient has a cultural or religious reason for not following recommendation	Recommendation cannot be — implemented due to technical challenges
Recommendation was already performed	Could not address recommendation due to need for more information/pending results/pending consult	Recipient does not agree with or trust the recommendation		Patient refuses/declines (no context given)**	Recommendation is too costly or not covered by insurance
Recommendation was previously tried Planned action was performed					Recipient does not understand the recommendation or know how to perform the recommendation
previously Recommendation is not relevant or a priority in current state of health					Patient has physical, emotional, or psychological barrier to completing recommendation

Exhibit notes: The taxonomy domains are recipient agnostic. While some categories may be more relevant to patient-recipients and others to clinician-recipients, the taxonomy does not a priori limit who would choose any given type of reason. *This subdomain encompasses two scenarios: 1) a recipient may find it more beneficial to override the PC CDS than to implement it, or 2) the recipient may choose to perform an action contrary to the PC CDS if the benefit of such action outweighs the risk raised by the PC CDS. **The category "Patient refuses/declines (no context given)" is included to acknowledge that override reasons that document patient refusal without providing more information are common in current CDS tools. However, this category is separated from the main taxonomy to indicate that it is not a preferred option; in the future, it would be ideal if PC CDS tools provided more-specific patient override reasons.

Discussion and Future Directions for Research and Use

While override reasons for traditional CDS have been discussed in the peer-reviewed literature (including taxonomies for specific CDS use cases, such as drug–drug interactions), this product provides a unique contribution by providing a taxonomy specifically focused on PC CDS. The taxonomy was developed based on a review of hundreds of override reasons identified in the literature and crowdsourced from several delivery systems and CDS systems. This taxonomy is not limited to a specific set of use cases such as medications but, rather, applies to varied PC CDS scenarios. Additionally, unlike prior work that looked at traditional CDS in which clinicians are the recipients, this taxonomy encompasses PC CDS of which the recipients may be clinicians, patients, or caregivers.

While the taxonomy was designed with a broad range of use cases in mind, it is not meant to be static. Over time, the types of domains offered may evolve, especially as PC CDS itself evolves to apply to new situations and use cases, necessitating updates to the taxonomy. Additionally, future efforts can further validate and standardize the taxonomy.

Refinement of the taxonomy based on experience and testing. The taxonomy serves as an initial framework that can potentially be refined and expanded through additional research and testing. While the taxonomy was developed through a data-driven approach and was iteratively refined with input from experts, it would benefit from additional piloting in real-world settings. In particular, validating the taxonomy against additional patient-facing PC CDS tools and with additional patients/caregivers would help ensure that it captures the breadth of reasons why a patient may choose not to (or be unable to) adhere to an alert/recommendation.

Development of approaches to standardize user-presentation. The descriptions of the domains and subdomains in the current version of the taxonomy are higher level and not suitable for use as override reasons displayed to a PC CDS recipient. Creating a recipient-friendly terminology associated with the taxonomy domains and subdomains will allow the taxonomy to be used directly within PC CDS and possibly incorporated in PC CDS interoperability standards such as Health Level Seven International (HL7) CDS Hooks. In turn, this will allow consistent presentation of override reasons to PC CDS recipients and capture of override reasons directly into the taxonomy concepts.

Use of the taxonomy to conduct analyses of PC CDS override reasons. The taxonomy can be used in its current version to analyze PC CDS override reasons in different scenarios. This would demonstrate the value of the taxonomy and how it can be used, and may also point to further directions for refinement.

Several limitations affect the scope and depth of the final taxonomy. The taxonomy may not encompass the universe of override reasons, particularly patient overrides, since it was based on a nonrepresentative sample of overrides from the literature and health systems/CDS developer. Additionally, the analysis of override reasons that underpinned the taxonomy development was hindered by lack of context in some cases, making override reasons difficult to interpret. Finally, the taxonomy validation was limited and primarily qualitative.

Conclusions

The taxonomy provides a framework for analyzing PC CDS overrides and can be used by PC CDS developers, PC CDS researchers, health systems, EHR developers, and patient groups as they investigate why users of PC CDS tools dismiss PC CDS recommendations and alerts. Standardized analysis facilitated by the taxonomy can support the translation of results across clinical settings and PC CDS types. Ultimately, the use of this taxonomy can support improvements in PC CDS to ensure that it is delivered at the right time, for the right patients and clinicians, and that it conveys clinically valuable and actionable information to inform shared decision making.

1. Introduction

Digital health technologies, such as electronic health record (EHR) systems, patient-facing applications, and wearable devices, often incorporate clinical decision support (CDS) that provides clinical alerts, recommendations, or other guidance to support evidence-based care and reduce patient harm.² For example, a CDS alert may notify a clinician of a potential drug–drug interaction, a patient allergy, or laboratory results relevant to their proposed course of action.³ Patient-centered CDS (PC CDS) significantly incorporates patient-centered factors related to knowledge, data, delivery, and use.¹

While PC CDS aims to deliver evidence-based guidance and insights, recipients—such as patients or clinicians—may choose to not follow that guidance.^{4 5} Literature on PC CDS is limited, especially when patients or caregivers are the recipients; most research has focused on clinician-facing CDS. This research has

Patient-Centered Clinical Decision Support (PC CDS)

PC CDS encompasses a spectrum of decision-making tools that significantly incorporate patient-centered factors related to knowledge, data, delivery, and use. Knowledge refers to the use of comparative effectiveness research (CER) or patient-centered outcomes research (PCOR) findings. Data focuses on the incorporation of patient-generated health data, patient preferences, social determinants of health, and other patient-specific information. Delivery refers to directly engaging patients and/or caregivers across different settings. Finally, use focuses on facilitating bi-directional information exchange in support of patient-centered care, including shared decision-making.1

identified reasons why CDS guidance is not followed, such as the recommendation not applying to the patient, the benefit of the proposed action outweighing the risk raised by the CDS, or the evidence underlying the CDS being outdated.⁶⁷⁸ Additionally, the CDS may be presented at the wrong time in the workflow or may not be a priority for a given patient.⁹

Some (though not all) CDS systems request that recipients identify a reason when they choose not to follow the guidance, called an "override reason." Systems may offer a coded list of predefined override reasons specific to the CDS, allow the recipient to input a reason as free-text, or both.¹⁰ While rates of override vary depending on the CDS and context, they have been shown to be as high as 90 percent in some cases.⁵⁶ Often, these overrides are clinically justified,⁵ suggesting potential issues with the CDS design or implementation. High rates of incorrect, irrelevant, uninformative, or nonspecific CDS alerts and recommendations contribute to alert fatigue and clinician burnout, which may in turn lead to recipients inadvertently dismissing or ignoring alerts that are clinically beneficial.^{2311 12} These types of concerns may be relevant in PC CDS implementations as well.

PC CDS is increasingly being put directly in the hands of patients to help manage conditions such as COVID-19 and hypertension during pregnancy.^{13 14} There is also a growing emphasis on shared decision making between clinicians and patients.¹⁵ This creates an impetus to monitor and analyze how recipients interact with PC CDS, including whether and why recommendations are overridden. By analyzing recipient-provided override reasons, researchers and PC CDS developers can understand if and why alerts are relevant or acceptable to different users, which can inform improvements in PC CDS logic and deployment.⁹¹² For example, analysis may reveal that the guidance is being delivered at the wrong time in the workflow or not considering relevant patient data, which developers could then address to make it more useful and acceptable to recipients.¹⁶

Currently, however, there is no standard or widely adopted taxonomy for analyzing override reasons, for CDS or PC CDS. Each system seems to use its own set of terms, and, while there is some overlap in concepts, specific wording and reasons vary. A taxonomy of override reasons was previously developed for drug–drug interaction alerts ⁶ and a separate taxonomy categorized reasons for CDS alert malfunctions,⁷ but no taxonomy covers broad use cases or extends to PC CDS.

This lack of a taxonomy of override reasons hinders research in PC CDS and the optimization of PC CDS recommendations. Currently, analysis of overrides is inefficient, and lessons learned from studies of CDS performance cannot be easily generalized from one study to another or one institution or setting to another.⁴ A common taxonomy of override reasons can support analysis of PC CDS and scaling the science of PC CDS optimization.

This report presents a taxonomy of override reasons for PC CDS tools, composed of reasons that may be selected by patients, caregivers, clinicians, or other recipients of PC CDS. The taxonomy serves as a foundation for analysis, providing a shared set of domains and subdomains that capture a broad range of potential override reasons. It is meant to be used by PC CDS developers and researchers when analyzing why users do not accept PC CDS guidance.

1.1 Roadmap of the Report

This report is organized in the following sections:

- Section 2 describes the methods used to develop the taxonomy.
- Section 3 presents the results, starting with a summary of the types of override reasons identified that informed the taxonomy development, followed by a description of the taxonomy.
- Section 4 discusses the taxonomy and explores future directions for research and use.
- Section 5 provides a brief conclusion.

2. Methods

The taxonomy was created through a three-stage process: development, refinement, and validation (Exhibit 1). These stages included a rapid literature review, solicitation of override reasons from CDS developers and health systems (referred to throughout the report as "crowdsourcing"), refinement through key informant feedback and a card sorting exercise, and validation through a second round of key informant interviews and a mapping exercise for quality assurance. Additional information about these methods is provided below.

Exhibit 1. Taxonomy Development Process



2.1 Identification of Override Reasons and Draft Taxonomy Development

To guide the construction of the taxonomy, the team first compiled a list of override reasons used in real-world CDS and PC CDS implementations. To start, the team conducted a rapid literature review to identify current override reasons. The search included CDS in addition to PC CDS given the nascency of PC CDS, which means there is less literature and fewer real-world implementations on which to draw. Many CDS override reasons could apply to PC CDS as well, however, making them appropriate to consider in the taxonomy development. A PubMed search yielded 76 articles, and, after screening titles and abstracts, 40 articles underwent full-text review. Through snowballing, an additional 15 articles were included. Override reasons were identified in 30 articles (see Appendix A).

Additionally, the team conducted a supplemental search for literature on barriers to patient adherence to clinical recommendations and reviewed an additional seven articles (see Appendix B). Given the limited literature on patient reasons for overriding CDS, this search provided information on why patients might choose not to follow clinical advice, allowing the team to identify parallels to clinician override reasons.

Concurrently with the literature review, the team also identified override reasons through crowdsourcing requests. CDS override reasons were received from six organizations: three health systems, two CDS tool developers/vendors, and one EHR vendor. The inputs were received as either complete system lists of override reasons from the organization's EHR system or product's system, a subset of reasons specific to a given CDS application, or a list of the most commonly selected overrides. In total, the crowdsourcing yielded 150 unique override reasons.

Next, the team developed the draft taxonomy by employing both inductive and deductive approaches to categorize override reasons. Deductively, the team developed initial high-level domains based on the PC CDS life cycle framework¹⁷ and grouped the identified override reasons within these categories. The team revised this initial categorization inductively by iteratively grouping override reasons thematically, modifying the initial groupings and domains as needed. The team also drew on the patient barriers literature to develop domains and subdomains of patient and caregiver reasons for override that did not appear in the literature or CDS examples, but that are particularly relevant to PC CDS. The team then divided high-level domains into associated subdomains.

2.2 Refinement of the Taxonomy

To refine the taxonomy, the team conducted virtual interviews with four key informants—three informaticians with PC CDS expertise and one health services researcher who studies patient-centered

care delivery—to solicit feedback on the draft taxonomy. Interviewers used semistructured discussion guides to garner feedback on the comprehensiveness, clarity, and structure of the taxonomy, as well as how it could be disseminated and used in practice. Given that few patient-specific override reasons were identified in the literature and crowdsourcing, insights from the interviews were also used to expand on potential patient/caregiver override reasons. Informants were provided with a working draft of the taxonomy in advance of the interviews.

The interviews were conducted via Zoom and lasted approximately 30–60 minutes. With informants' approval, all sessions were recorded. A team member took transcript-style notes, which the team thematically analyzed to identify patterns within and across interviews.

In tandem with the interviews, eight members of the team conducted a card sorting exercise in which the override reasons identified through the literature and crowdsourcing were grouped under the draft taxonomy domains. This exercise aimed to assess the alignment between the draft taxonomy domains and real-world override reasons.⁶ Based on findings from the card sorting exercise and interviews, the team iteratively revised the taxonomy by either adding or removing domains and subdomains, restructuring the grouping of concepts, and revising the language.

2.3 Validation of the Taxonomy

To validate the taxonomy, the team conducted a second round of virtual interviews with six informants representing clinicians, informaticians, patient representatives, and researchers to solicit feedback on the refined taxonomy. The team also received two additional lists of override reasons from two health systems.

After receiving feedback, the team implemented final adjustments to the taxonomy, followed by a final mapping exercise for quality assurance. In this exercise, the team acquired new override reasons from a recent study of free-text override responses to CDS alerts¹⁸ and mapped them to the taxonomy domains, comparing and discussing discordant use of the codes and refining the wording or instructional guidance for certain codes. This process allowed the team to confirm that the taxonomy domains adequately captured the variety of override reasons encountered in clinical practice.

3. Results

This section presents the results of the sourcing of override reasons, followed by a description of the taxonomy and considerations for the use of the taxonomy.

3.1 Summary of Identified Override Reasons

All the CDS-specific articles identified in the literature reviewed clinician-facing CDS tools; no articles reviewed patient-facing CDS tools. Moreover, the overwhelming majority of concepts identified in the literature review could be considered clinician focused. These covered a variety of clinical topic areas, including drug–drug interaction, ^{5 6 8 10 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28} drug allergies/patient

allergies,^{58 12 16 26 27 28 29 30 31 32} formulary substitutions,^{8 27} duplicate drugs,^{8 26 27} drug dosage,²⁷ renal recommendations (e.g., related to renal function),^{8 27 33 34} preventive care,³⁵ age-based CDS/geriatrics,^{8 27} and pharmacogenetics,³⁶ among others. Drug–drug interactions, drug-allergy/allergy, and other drug-related use cases were the most frequently studied.

Two high-level themes emerged across the identified override reasons and CDS tools. First, while most CDS tools used context-specific override reasons, several generic reasons appeared across multiple tools. For example, reasons capturing concepts such as "no reasonable alternative," "benefit outweighs the risk," and "alert does not apply to this patient" were offered as override options in a range of CDS tools/contexts (though the specific wording may have varied).

Second, while most of the clinician-facing CDS tools (e.g., embedded in EHR systems) documented override reasons from the clinician perspective, some captured the patient perspective, albeit in a rudimentary manner. For example, in some systems clinicians could enter reasons such as "Patient declined" or "Patient refuses." The override reasons from one of the CDS tools obtained through the crowdsourcing, which focused on colorectal cancer screening, provided a few additional patient override reasons such as "Cost concerns" and "Cultural concerns." The vast majority of identified reasons captured the clinician/health system perspective, however.

3.2 Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations: Design Features, Use, and Structure

The sections below describe some of the key design features of the taxonomy, how it should be used, and its structure.

3.2.1 Taxonomy Design Features

There are several noteworthy features of the taxonomy. First, the taxonomy applies to both clinician- and patient-facing PC CDS, and the domains are recipient agnostic. While some categories may be more relevant to patient-recipients and others to clinician-recipients, the taxonomy does not a priori limit who would choose any given type of reason. For example, a patient could select to override a recommendation delivered in a patient-facing application because it does not align with their preferences. Alternatively, they might tell a physician during a clinical encounter that a given recommendation does not align with their preferences, in response to which the physician would enter the reason in the EHR system when prompted for an override explanation.

PC CDS Recipients

In the taxonomy, a recipient is defined as anyone who receives PC CDS (e.g., a patient, clinician, or caregiver). Some taxonomy domains and subdomains may be more relevant to patients/caregivers and others to clinicians, but the taxonomy does not limit who can choose a given reason. For example, a patient or a clinician may choose to decline a recommendation because of issues with the evidence or because of concerns regarding health outcomes. Second, not all domains or subdomains in the taxonomy may be applicable to every PC CDS tool. Developers of PC CDS may choose to offer override reasons that align with some or all of these categories in any given tool. The taxonomy is meant to capture a broad range of possible override categories. It is also meant to apply to PC CDS that is recommending an action (e.g., recommending a screening test) as well as to PC CDS alerts that are critiquing/flagging a recipient's planned course of action (e.g., alerting that a patient has an allergy to a drug that is being prescribed).

Third, the taxonomy is intended to provide overarching thematic concepts under which specific override reasons can be grouped. Many of the override reasons observed in the literature and crowdsourcing applied to specific clinical scenarios. Including such numerous, specific concepts would make the taxonomy unwieldy to use and impractical to maintain. The taxonomy instead provides higher-level concepts. For example, override reasons from the crowdsourcing included "Contraindication to modality," "Contraindication: Brain injury/edema," and "Contraindication: Hyperkalemia"; the taxonomy captures these under the subdomain "Patient has contraindication to recommendation."

Finally, the taxonomy is forward looking and as such includes some override categories that were not offered in the real-world override reasons reviewed while creating the taxonomy. In particular, very few real-world override reasons captured the patient/caregiver perspective.

In reviewing override reasons from the literature and crowdsourcing, the team found that reasons for patients declining were limited and generally did not describe *why* the patient chose to decline. For

example, identified reasons included "Patient preference," ³⁷ "Patient refused," ³⁷ "Patient/guardian declines," 37 "Patient/caregiver declines," 37 and "Pt counseled, prefers discontinuation."³⁷ These reasons do not specify the patient's motivation for refusing/declining, whether it be personal preference, concerns regarding negative side effects, logistical challenges associated with completing the recommendation such as cost barriers, or something else. This taxonomy extends what is currently available to include additional (and more descriptive) reasons why patients/caregivers may decline PC CDS, drawing upon literature on patient barriers to adhering to care recommendations and insights from key informants. While these types of override reasons may not currently be offered in PC CDS, in the future, PC CDS developers should consider including override options that provide deeper insight into decision context and motivation.

A Note on the Current and Future State of Patient Reasons for Override

The taxonomy domains provide options for why a patient may override a PC CDS alert or recommendation. The category "Patient refuses/declines (no context given)" is also included in the taxonomy to acknowledge that override reasons indicating that a patient declines/refuses without providing more information are common in current CDS tools. However, this category is visually separated from the main taxonomy (see Exhibit 2) to indicate that it is not a preferred option.

3.2.2 How To Use the Taxonomy

The taxonomy is meant to be used by PC CDS developers and researchers for analysis of reasons expressed by PC CDS recipients for not accepting PC CDS guidance. The taxonomy can be implemented by health systems to gauge with more specificity why a given PC CDS alert is being frequently overridden, and point to ways in which the PC CDS can be improved. It can also be used by researchers to investigate override reasons. It is particularly suited to facilitating comparison of overrides of PC CDS across different institutions to share lessons learned.

The terms included in the taxonomy domains and subdomains may not represent the terms a recipient (e.g., a patient or clinician) may see when they override PC CDS in an EHR system or patient-facing application. Rather, users of the taxonomy should map these recipient-provided override reasons to the taxonomy domains/subdomains and report their results using the taxonomy terminology.

Additionally, it is important to note that the scope of this taxonomy is to investigate recipient-provided reasons for overriding PC CDS. This taxonomy is not meant for analysis of the underlying issues with a PC CDS algorithm or its data inputs. For example, a user may indicate they did not follow the PC CDS recommendation due to a patient contraindication, a reason that is reflected in the taxonomy. Further investigation may reveal that the contraindication was not detected because the patient data are incomplete in the patient's EHR. This secondary analysis is beyond the scope of the taxonomy.

3.2.3 Taxonomy Domains

Exhibit 2 presents the Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations. The taxonomy contains six domains, each with several subdomains. The taxonomy encompasses override reasons related to 1) the applicability of the PC CDS to the patient, 2) the context in which the PC CDS is delivered, 3) the evidence underlying the PC CDS, 4) potential health outcomes, 5) patient preferences and values, and 6) logistical and other barriers to completion of the actions recommended by the PC CDS.

Exhibit 2. Initial Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations

PC CDS does not apply to patient	PC CDS delivered in suboptimal context	Recipient disagrees with recommendation because of issues with the evidence	Recipient has concerns regarding potential health outcomes	Recommendation does not align with patient preferences or values	Recommendation is not convenient or feasible
Patient does not meet eligibility for recommendation	Could not address recommendation due to limited time	Recommendation does not align with the latest evidence	Benefits outweigh risks*	Patient fears discomfort from complying with recommendation	Patient has inadequate caregiver/social support
Patient has contraindication to recommendation	PC CDS delivered at wrong time in workflow or patient lifeflow	Advice from expert contradicts the recommendation	Action taken to mitigate risk of negative outcome	Patient does not want to change behavior or believes the change is unnecessary	Treatment or service is not practically available
Patient has indication/order for planned action	PC CDS delivered to inappropriate recipient-role	Institutional policy/guideline contradicts the recommendation	Recommendation likely to have negative health outcomes	Patient has a cultural or religious reason for not following recommendation	Recommendation cannot be — implemented due to technical challenges
Recommendation — was already performed	Could not address recommendation due to need for more information/pending results/pending	Recipient does not agree with or trust the recommendation		Patient refuses/declines (no context given)**	Recommendation is too costly or not covered by insurance
Recommendation was previously tried	consult				Recipient does not understand the recommendation or know how to perform
performed previously					the recommendation Patient has physical,
Recommendation is not relevant or a priority in current state of health					emotional, or psychological barrier to completing recommendation

Exhibit notes: The taxonomy domains are recipient agnostic. While some categories may be more relevant to patient-recipients and others to clinician-recipients, the taxonomy does not a priori limit who would choose any given type of reason. *This subdomain encompasses two scenarios: 1) a recipient may find it more beneficial to override the PC CDS than to implement it, or 2) the recipient may choose to perform an action contrary to the PC CDS if the benefit of such action outweighs the risk raised by the PC CDS. **The category "Patient refuses/declines (no context given)" is included to acknowledge that override reasons that document patient refusal without providing more information are common in current CDS tools. However, this category is separated from the main taxonomy to indicate that it is not a preferred option; in the future, it would be ideal if PC CDS tools provided more-specific patient override reasons.

In the following sections, each of the taxonomy domains and associated subdomains is described in more detail with examples of overrides from real-world implementations.

3.2.3.1 PC CDS Does Not Apply to Patient

A PC CDS alert or recommendation may not apply to the patient. This may occur when the patient's data are missing or not up to date in the EHR. From the perspective of a PC CDS recipient, the alert/recommendation may not be applicable for several reasons, which the taxonomy captures in seven subdomains.

- 1. **Subdomain: Patient does not meet eligibility for recommendation.** An alert or recommendation may appear for a patient who is not eligible for it. For example, a patient may not fall within the age requirements for a given alert/recommendation or a patient may no longer be taking a drug that is the subject of a drug–drug interaction alert. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Patient not eligible,"³⁷ "Clinical info/calculation incorrect,"³⁷ "Does not apply to patient,"²² and "Patient is not pregnant."²⁷
- 2. **Subdomain: Patient has contraindication to recommendation.** A patient may have a contraindication that causes the recipient not to accept the PC CDS recommendation. For example, the patient may have an allergy to a recommended drug, may not tolerate a recommended mode of treatment delivery, or may have some other condition that makes the recommendation clinically inappropriate. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Contraindicated,"³⁷ "Medical contraindication,"³⁷ and "Contraindication: Brain injury/edema."³⁷
- 3. **Subdomain: Patient has indication/order for planned action.** A patient may have an indication or a planned course of action that renders the alert/recommendation not applicable. For example, a clinician may receive an alert if they try to reorder a CT within a certain period from the last test; however, they may determine that the repeat imaging is necessary due to the onset of new clinical symptoms or worsening of existing symptoms.³⁸ Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Patient on clinical trial requiring study"³⁷ and "Indicated for impending international travel."³⁷
- 4. **Subdomain: Recommendation was already performed.** It is possible that the action recommended by the PC CDS, such as administration of a screening test, was already performed but is not reflected in the data that inform the PC CDS. For example, a PC CDS may recommend a patient receive a colonoscopy based on their age and reported date since last exam in the EHR, but the patient might report to their clinician that they recently received a colonoscopy at a separate institution, causing the clinician to override the recommendation. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Received at outside facility,"³⁷ "Already under specialist care,"³⁷ "Has pending consult already,"³⁷ and "Patient already had therapy."³⁷
- 5. **Subdomain: Recommendation was previously tried.** A PC CDS recommendation/alert may flag or recommend a course of action for a patient, but it has already been tried for that patient and

proven unsuccessful, and thus an alternative is being pursued. An override example from the source reasons related to this subdomain is "History of minimum three failed trials of monotherapy."³⁷

- 6. **Subdomain: Planned action was performed previously.** In this case, the PC CDS may issue an alert flagging a concern about a planned course of clinical action, but the recipient overrides the alert because it was previously performed without an adverse result. For example, a patient with a drug allergy may have previously tolerated a combination drug, so a clinician may represcribe it. An override example from the source reasons related to this subdomain is "Patient tolerated before."²⁷
- 7. **Subdomain: Recommendation is not relevant or a priority in current state of health.** A patient may meet the eligibility criteria for a recommendation offered by PC CDS, but it may not be a priority or relevant given their current health state or based on their goals. For example, preventing diabetes is likely not a priority for a patient with a terminal illness. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain are "Palliative care,"³⁷ "Comfort care,"³⁹ "Defer 6 months due to acute comorbidity,"³⁷ and "Screening not applicable due to chronic comorbidity."³⁷

3.2.3.2 PC CDS Delivered in Suboptimal Context

In contrast to the reasons above that relate to the appropriateness of alert to a particular patient for various reasons, a PC CDS alert/recommendation may be dismissed by a recipient because it was not delivered in the right context. Context includes factors such as timing and the role of the (nonpatient) recipient in the delivery of care to the patient. The taxonomy includes four subdomains that cover these contextual reasons for override.

- 1. **Subdomain: Could not address recommendation due to limited time.** PC CDS may be relevant to a patient, but a recipient may choose to decline to address it because they do not have enough time to address it. For example, in the context of a clinical visit, a PC CDS may raise a valid recommendation, such as suggesting a flu vaccination for a patient, but there may not be enough time within the 15–20-minute encounter to discuss vaccination with the patient due to more pressing healthcare needs. In this case, the recommendation may be overridden and possibly deferred until a later date. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Defer"³⁷ and "Snooze,"³⁷ both of which offer options to postpone for specific periods of time (e.g., one week, one month, one year), and "Show me next time."³⁷
- 2. **Subdomain: PC CDS delivered at wrong time in workflow or patient lifeflow.** PC CDS may be delivered at the wrong time in the clinical workflow or, in the case of patient-facing PC CDS, in the patient's lifeflow. For example, an alert may appear upon opening a patient's chart in the EHR system, before a clinician has had time to assess the patient, causing them to dismiss the alert; ideally, it would have been delivered after the clinician completed their assessment. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Patient has not yet arrived," ³⁷ "I have not yet seen the patient," ³⁷ and "I need to review the chart." ³⁷
- 3. **Subdomain: PC CDS delivered to inappropriate recipient-role.** PC CDS may be overridden if it was not delivered to the appropriate recipient. For example, an alert/recommendation may be

delivered to a specialist when it is raising an issue that should be addressed by the patient's primary care provider. Alternatively, the alert may appear when a registered nurse opens the patient's chart, but the alert is intended for the physician. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "I am not the attending physician,"³⁷ "Not a member of the patient's care team,"³⁷ "Not appropriate provider,"³⁷ and "Not a member of the Primary Admitting Service."³⁷

4. **Subdomain: Could not address recommendation due to need for more information/pending results/pending consult.** A recipient may override a PC CDS recommendation/alert if they do not have the needed data—such as information from an outstanding laboratory result or advice from a specialist—to act on it. A clinician may, for example, choose to order additional diagnostic tests before they decide on the course of action suggested by the PC CDS. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Defer until further information can be gathered,"³⁷ "Need to defer for additional assessments,"³⁷ and "Patient requires additional procedures/consultations prior to [...] ICU admission."³⁷

3.2.3.3 Recipient Disagrees With Recommendation Because of Issues With the Evidence

A PC CDS recipient may dismiss an alert/recommendation because the evidence used in building the PC CDS logic does not align with the most recent evidence or the recipient may be following a different set of evidence. For example, there may be newer evidence that renders the PC CDS alert or recommendation outdated. Alternatively, it may be a complex or unique clinical situation in which the recipient is relying on advice from an expert for their specific situation. The taxonomy includes four subdomains of override reasons related to issues with the clinical evidence.

- 1. **Subdomain: Recommendation does not align with the latest evidence.** Clinical evidence is constantly changing, and, in some cases, updates to PC CDS tools may not keep pace with the latest clinical guidelines. As a result, an alert/recommendation may appear that does not align with the latest clinical best practices. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "New evidence supports therapy of this type"⁸ and "Published guidelines suggest follow-up."³⁸
- 2. Subdomain: Advice from expert contradicts the recommendation. Recipients of PC CDS may override an alert/recommendation because they have received different advice or guidance from someone else (e.g., a specialist, another patient). For example, antibiotic selection for presumptive treatment of a condition may be based on advice from an infectious disease consultation, leading the clinician to override a CDS alert about the choice of antibiotic that is based on the patient's symptoms. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Surgeon requested early redose [of anesthesia],"³⁷ "Consulted with Radiology,"³⁷ "Contacted provider & confirmed med,"³⁷ and "Specific attending request."³⁷
- 3. **Subdomain: Institutional policy/guideline contradicts the recommendation.** In some cases, an institution's policy/guidelines may not align with the content of the alert/recommendation raised by

the PC CDS. An example override reason from the source reasons related to this subdomain is "per protocol."²²

4. Subdomain: Recipient does not agree with or trust the recommendation. A recipient may override a PC CDS alert/recommendation if they do not agree with or trust the recommendation. For example, it has been documented that trust in the COVID-19 vaccination, including perceptions of the vaccine's safety and efficacy, played a role in acceptance of the vaccine.⁴⁰ Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Disagree with appropriateness score"³⁷ and "Physician objection to guidelines."³⁷

3.2.3.4 Recipient Has Concerns Regarding Potential Health Outcomes

A PC CDS recipient may dismiss an alert/recommendation because they have concerns regarding the potential clinical outcomes resulting from implementing the recommendation. In this case, the recommendation/alert is applicable but could cause negative health outcomes to the patient if implemented, or the benefits of the clinician's/patient's proposed course of action outweigh the risk to the patient raised by the PC CDS. The taxonomy includes three subdomains of override reasons related to concerns regarding potential clinical outcomes.

- 1. Subdomain: Benefits outweigh risks. PC CDS may deliver an alert/recommendation for an action by the recipient in which it may be more beneficial to the patient to override than to implement. The recipient may also choose to perform an action despite the PC CDS alert or recommendation if they perceive the benefit of such action outweighs the risk suggested by the PC CDS. In the literature, "benefit outweighs risk" was identified as a common override reason for studies reporting drug–drug interaction and prescription override reasons.¹⁹ For example, a clinician may prescribe a medication even though the patient has mild intolerance to the medication. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Benefit outweighs risk,"^{6 41 42} "Low risk,"⁴³ and "No reasonable alternatives."²⁷
- 2. **Subdomain: Action taken to mitigate risk of negative outcome.** Recipients of PC CDS may override an alert/recommendation because they have already taken, or plan to take, an action that would mitigate the risk of the negative outcome suggested by the PC CDS. For example, an alert may flag a potential drug interaction and the clinician may override the alert, acknowledging the potential interaction but noting that they will monitor the patient closely for symptoms of concern. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Will monitor,"³⁷ "Follow-up action(s) taken,"³⁷ and "Known diagnosis managed by me."³⁷
- 3. **Subdomain: Recommendation likely to have negative health outcomes.** PC CDS may deliver an alert/recommendation that the recipient deems would have a negative health outcome for the patient if implemented. An example of this could be that a pregnant patient is experiencing extreme nausea and the CDS prescribes an increased dose of antiemetic. The physician may decide not to give the patient this dose because of concerns for the fetus. An example of an override reason from the source reasons related to this subdomain is "Potential side effects."³⁷

3.2.3.5 Recommendation Does Not Align With Patient Preferences or Values

For PC CDS to be patient-centered, it should consider the preferences and values of patients. When a PC CDS recommendation/alert does not align with patient preferences or values, a recipient may override it. For example, some patients have religious or cultural reasons for not wanting to accept certain services or treatments (e.g., some religious beliefs preclude blood transfusions⁴⁴). The taxonomy includes three subdomains related to patient preferences and values.

- 1. **Subdomain: Patient fears discomfort complying with recommendation.** A patient may not feel comfortable complying with a PC CDS recommendation, because they believe it may cause them discomfort. For example, a PC CDS tool may recommend a vaccine or medication that the patient anticipates will be uncomfortable for them (e.g., the administration of the vaccine/medication itself or its side effects). Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Anxiety/fear,"³⁷ "Views test with distaste/disgust,"³⁷ and "Fear of discomfort or results."³⁵
- 2. Subdomain: Patient does not want to change behavior or believes the change is unnecessary. PC CDS may deliver an alert/recommendation for the patient to change a behavior such as their diet or exercise regimen. Recipients of PC CDS may override these if the patient does not want to change their behavior or believes the change is unnecessary. For example, some elderly patients may not want to implement dietary or other changes given their age.⁴⁵ Additionally, there may be situations in which a patient is monitoring their health very closely and may have observational insights that contradict recommendations from a PC CDS. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Feels benefits are not worth the effort,"³⁷ "Not convinced of screening importance,"³⁷ and "Believe test not necessary."³⁵
- 3. **Subdomain: Patient has a cultural or religious reason for not following the recommendation.** A recipient may override a PC CDS alert/recommendation because it does not align with the patient's culture or religious beliefs. For example, some patients may not agree to have a blood transfusion due to religious beliefs. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Cultural concerns"³⁷ and "Patient DOES NOT ACCEPT transfusions."³⁷

3.2.3.6 Recommendation Is Not Convenient or Feasible

While ideally PC CDS would incorporate a patient's health-related social needs (such as barriers to care information) when possible, at times a PC CDS alert/recommendation may not be convenient or feasible for the patient and/or provider.⁴⁶ For example, a PC CDS alert/recommendation may recommend a patient receive a screening MRI that would be too costly to the patient; the patient may elect to receive an X-ray instead or forgo a screening altogether. From a provider perspective, PC CDS may deliver a recommendation/alert that is not practically available at their facility or a nearby facility. The taxonomy includes six subdomains of override reasons related to convenience and feasibility of the recommendation.

1. **Subdomain: Patient has inadequate caregiver/social support.** A recipient may override a PC CDS recommendation or alert if the patient does not have adequate social support to implement

it. For example, an elderly patient may be discharged to a nursing home or skilled nursing facility if they do not have a caregiver at home; thus, PC CDS recommendations that involve at-home support from caregivers may be overridden. An example override reason from the source reasons related to this subdomain is "Ride not available (specify family or ambulance)."³⁷

- 2. **Subdomain: Treatment or service is not practically available.** PC CDS may deliver a recommendation/alert for a treatment or service that is not available at the current care facility or one nearby, making it inconvenient for the recommendation to be implemented due to distance or logistical challenges (e.g., driving distance, inability to take time off work). Examples from the source reasons related to this subdomain include "Logistical concerns,"³⁷ "Patient access issues,"³⁷ and "Equipment or supplies not available at [facility]."³⁷
- 3. Subdomain: Recommendation cannot be implemented due to technical challenges. A recipient may not be able to implement a PC CDS recommendation/alert due to technical challenges. For example, the recipient may not have the technology available to store a given drug at the appropriate temperature.⁴⁷ This subdomain was developed based on the literature on patient barriers to adherence to care recommendations and on feedback from key informants. No real-world CDS overrides examples relevant to this subdomain were identified in the literature or crowdsourcing. However, the patient barriers literature points to a relevant scenario: a patient who is asked to regularly monitor their blood glucose may be unable to do so because their glucometer is defective.⁴⁸
- 4. **Subdomain: Recommendation is too costly or not covered by insurance.** In some cases, patients may decline a recommendation/alert that is too costly for them or not covered by their insurance. For example, a patient that needs anticoagulation for atrial fibrillation may decide that they cannot take one of the novel anticoagulant drugs due to the cost of the medicine and would opt to take Coumadin instead. Examples of override reasons from the source reasons related to this subdomain are "Cost concerns"³⁷ and "Financial Limitations."³⁷
- 5. **Subdomain: Recipient does not understand the recommendation or know how to perform the recommendation.** In some cases, the recipient may dismiss a recommendation/alert if they do not understand what the recommendation/alert is saying or if they do not know how to perform the recommended action. This may include reasons related to health or digital literacy and patient education. It could also be due to the recommendation/alert being unclear or not providing sufficient context. A key informant shared the example of patients not fully understanding how much of a medication to take based on the dose recommended. As another example, a patient may be recommended to monitor and report their daily fasting blood glucose but may not know how to do so. An example of an override reason from the source reasons related to this subdomain is "No education performed."³⁷
- 6. Subdomain: Patient has physical, emotional, or psychological barrier to completing recommendation. The patient may have a physical, emotional, or psychological barrier that prevents them from completing the PC CDS recommendation. This subdomain was developed in conversation with key informants and based on the literature on patient barriers to adherence to care recommendations. While no real-world PC CDS override reasons were identified related to this

subdomain, a key informant shared this could include not being able to follow a recommended exercise regimen, for example, due to disability or injury. The literature also identifies age-related physical constraints as another potential reason for not complying with a recommended exercise regimen.⁴⁵

4. Discussion

This taxonomy includes high-level domains and corresponding subdomains of reasons why recipients of PC CDS—including clinicians, patients, and caregivers—might choose not to follow the guidance. It provides a framework for grouping override reasons in a way that can support standardized override analysis across PC CDS tools and implementations.

While override reasons for traditional CDS have been discussed in the peer-reviewed literature (including taxonomies for specific CDS use cases, such as drug–drug interactions), this product provides a unique contribution by providing a taxonomy focused on PC CDS specifically. The taxonomy was developed based on a review of hundreds of override reasons identified in the literature and crowdsourced from several delivery and CDS systems. This taxonomy is not limited to a specific set of use cases such as medications but, rather, applies to varied PC CDS scenarios. Additionally, unlike prior work that looked at traditional CDS in which clinicians are the recipients, this taxonomy encompasses PC CDS of which the recipients may be clinicians, patients, or caregivers.

While the taxonomy was designed with a broad range of use cases in mind, it is not meant to be static. The taxonomy was built based on the override reasons offered by contemporary CDS tools. Over time, the types of reasons offered may evolve—especially as CDS itself evolves to apply to new situations and use cases, and as PC CDS becomes more prevalent—necessitating updates to the taxonomy. Certain types of overrides may also be phased out. For example, the taxonomy includes the broad category "Patient refuses/declines (no context given)" since this is commonly offered in today's CDS systems. While this reason is not ideal (in that it provides little insight into the "why" behind the override), it is still important to capture and can alert researchers to investigate more; for example, local researchers could investigate patient refusals to get more information on why they refused. Over time, additional, specific patient reasons may be added to PC CDS tools, which could then be incorporated into the taxonomy, while the less prevalent reasons could be removed.

4.1 Future Directions for Research and Use

Future efforts can further validate and standardize the taxonomy, as described below.

Refinement of the taxonomy based on experience and testing. The taxonomy serves as an initial framework that can potentially be refined and expanded through additional research and testing. While the taxonomy was developed through a data-driven approach, and was iteratively refined with input from experts, it would benefit from additional piloting in real-world settings. In particular, validating the taxonomy against additional patient-facing PC CDS tools and with additional patients/caregivers would

help ensure that it captures the breadth of reasons why a patient may choose not to (or be unable to) adhere to an alert/recommendation.

Development of approaches to standardize user-presentation. The descriptions of the domains and subdomains in the current version of the taxonomy are higher level and not suitable for use as override reasons displayed to a PC CDS recipient, either a patient, a clinician, or any other role type. Creating a recipient-friendly terminology associated with the taxonomy domains and subdomains will allow the taxonomy to be used directly within PC CDS and possibly incorporated in PC CDS interoperability standards such as Health Level Seven International (HL7) CDS Hooks.⁴⁹ In turn, this will allow consistent presentation of override reasons to PC CDS recipients and capture of override reasons directly into the taxonomy concepts. The considerations associated with creating such terms include 1) creating separate sets of terms for clinicians and for nonhealthcare professionals, such as patients and caregivers, and 2) allowing creation of terms that are very specific to the PC CDS. The latter consideration could lead to an explosion of terms based on clinical criteria. This can be managed through the creation of term templates. For example, a template could be "<diagnostic test> is elevated," and the PC CDS would replace the placeholder with a specific value (e.g., "diagnostic test" with "Serum potassium" or "K").

Use of the taxonomy to conduct analyses of PC CDS override reasons. The taxonomy can be used in its current version to analyze PC CDS override reasons in different scenarios. This would demonstrate the value of the taxonomy and how it can be used, and may also point to further directions for refinement.

4.2 Limitations

There are limitations that affect the scope and depth of the final taxonomy. First, although the team aimed to construct a broad taxonomy that would apply to most PC CDS scenarios, it may not encompass the universe of override reasons. The taxonomy evolved from a review of the literature as well as lists of overrides obtained from real-world CDS implementations. Despite this, there may be unique override reasons and scenarios that are not adequately captured in our taxonomy due to limitations of the data sources. Furthermore, the team primarily looked at structured override reasons, not free-text responses.

In the same vein, certain patient-specific override reasons may not be adequately captured. The review of existing literature revealed a lack of research on patient reasons for PC CDS override. Factors such as patient preferences, unique clinical circumstances, or variations in healthcare settings may contribute to override scenarios, the breadth of which may not be fully represented in this taxonomy.

Additionally, in some cases, analysis of override reasons was impeded by insufficient clinical context in which the PC CDS alert or recommendation was delivered. This made it difficult to interpret the override reason. The team attempted to mitigate this by looking at multiple sources of override reasons, but there may be some influence on the taxonomy's comprehensiveness.

Finally, the validation of the taxonomy was limited and primarily qualitative, through insights from interviews with key informants and a mapping exercise. The taxonomy did not undergo a formal validation process.

5. Conclusion

The Taxonomy of Override Reasons for PC CDS Recommendations provides a first-of-its-kind framework for analyzing PC CDS overrides. The taxonomy can be taken up by PC CDS developers, PC CDS researchers, health systems, EHR developers, and patient groups as they investigate why users of PC CDS tools dismiss PC CDS. Future efforts can validate the taxonomy to ensure that it fully captures the breadth and depth of override reasons—particularly for patients. Additionally, future work can standardize the taxonomy to maximize its utility for research and other applications. Over time, the taxonomy can be updated to reflect the current state of PC CDS overrides.

Standardized analysis facilitated by the taxonomy can support translation of results across clinical settings and PC CDS types. Ultimately, the use of this taxonomy can support improvements in PC CDS to ensure that it is delivered at the right time, for the right patients and clinicians, and that it conveys clinically valuable and actionable information to inform shared decision making.

Appendix A. Literature That Identified Override Reasons

Aaron S, McEvoy D, Ray S, Hickman TTT, Wright A. Cranky comments: Detecting clinical decision support malfunctions through free-text override reasons. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2018;26(1):37-43. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocy139.

Ahn EK, Cho S, Shin D, Jang CH, Park RW. Differences of reasons for alert overrides on contraindicated co-prescriptions by admitting department. *Healthcare Informatics Research*. 2014;20(4):280. doi:10.4258/hir.2014.20.4.280.

Alanazi A, Alalawi W, Aldosari B. An evaluation of Drug-Drug interaction alerts produced by clinical decision support systems in a tertiary hospital. *Cureus*. 2023 Aug. doi:10.7759/cureus.43141.

Cho I, Slight SP, Nanji KC, et al. Understanding physicians' behavior toward alerts about nephrotoxic medications in outpatients: a cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Nephrology*. 2014;15(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2369-15-200.

Edrees H, Amato MG, Wong A, Seger DL, Bates DW. High-priority drug-drug interaction clinical decision support overrides in a newly implemented commercial computerized provider order-entry system: Override appropriateness and adverse drug events. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2020;27(6):893-900. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocaa034.

Goldspiel BR, Flegel WA, DiPatrizio G, et al. Integrating pharmacogenetic information and clinical decision support into the electronic health record. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2014;21(3):522-8. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001873.

Grizzle AJ, Mahmood M, Ko Y, et al. Reasons provided by prescribers when overriding drug-drug interaction alerts. *Am J Manag Care*. 2007;13(10):573-8. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17927462</u>.

Hsieh TC, Kuperman GJ, Jaggi T, et al. Characteristics and consequences of drug allergy alert overrides in a computerized physician order entry system. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2004;11(6):482-91. doi:10.1197/jamia.m1556.

Joglekar NN, Patel Y, Keller MS. Evaluation of clinical decision support to reduce Sedative-Hypnotic prescribing in older adults. *Applied Clinical Informatics*. 2021;12(03):436-44. doi:10.1055/s-0041-1730030.

Légat L, Van Laere S, Nyssen M, Steurbaut S, Dupont AG, Cornu P. Clinical decision support systems for drug allergy checking: Systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* 2018 Sep;20(9):e258. doi:10.2196/jmir.8206.

Litzelman DK, Tierney WM. Physicians' reasons for failing to comply with computerized preventive care guidelines. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 1996;11(8):497-9. doi:10.1007/bf02599049.

Luri M, Gastaminza G, Idoate A, Ortega A. Allergic adverse drug events after alert overrides in hospitalized patients. *Journal of Patient Safety*. 2022;18(6):630-6. doi:10.1097/pts.000000000001034.

Luri M, Leache L, Gastaminza G, Idoate A, Ortega A. A systematic review of drug allergy alert systems. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*. 2022;159:104673. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104673.

Nanji KC, Slight SP, Seger DL, et al. Overrides of medication-related clinical decision support alerts in outpatients. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2014;21(3):487-91. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001813.

Nanji KC, Seger DL, Slight SP, et al. Medication-related clinical decision support alert overrides in inpatients. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2017;25(5):476-81. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocx115.

Nikolić D, Richter S, Asamoto K, Wyllie R, Tuttle RH, Procop GW. Implementation of a clinical decision support tool for stool cultures and parasitological studies in hospitalized patients. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology (Print)*. 2017;55(12):3350-4. doi:10.1128/jcm.01052-17.

O'Connor SD, Sodickson AD, Ip IK, et al. JOURNAL CLUB: Requiring clinical justification to override repeat imaging decision support: Impact on CT use. *American Journal of Roentgenology*. 2014 Oct;203(5):W482-90. doi:10.2214/ajr.14.13017.

Poly TN, Islam M, Yang HC, Li YC. Appropriateness of overridden alerts in computerized physician order entry: Systematic review. *JMIR Medical Informatics*. 2020;8(7):e15653. doi:10.2196/15653.

Rubins D, McCoy AB, Dutta S, et al. Real-time user feedback to support clinical decision support system improvement. *Applied Clinical Informatics*. 2022;13(05):1024-32. doi:10.1055/s-0042-1757923.

Seidling HM, Paterno MD, Haefeli WE, Bates DW. Coded entry versus free-text and alert overrides: What you get depends on how you ask. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*. 2010;79(11):792-6. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.003.

Shah SN, Amato MG, Garlo K, Seger DL, Bates DW. Renal medication-related clinical decision support (CDS) alerts and overrides in the inpatient setting following implementation of a commercial electronic health record: implications for designing more effective alerts. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2021;28(6):1081-7. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocaa222.

Straichman YZ, Kurnik D, Matok I, et al. Prescriber response to computerized drug alerts for electronic prescriptions among hospitalized patients. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*. 2017;107:70-5. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.08.008.

Teixeira V, Mori A, Usera A, Bacigalupo JC, Luna D. Performance evaluation of Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS): Developing a Business Intelligence (BI) dashboard. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*. 2019 Aug;264:829-33. doi:10.3233/shti190339.

Topaz M, Seger DL, Lai KH, et al. High override rate for opioid drug-allergy interaction alerts: Current trends and recommendations for future. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*. 2015;216:242-6. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26262047</u>.

Van De Sijpe G, Quintens C, Walgraeve K, et al. Overall performance of a drug–drug interaction clinical decision support system: Quantitative evaluation and end-user survey. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*. 2022;22(1). doi:10.1186/s12911-022-01783-z.

Villa-Zapata L, Subbian V, Boyce RD, et al. Overriding drug-drug interaction alerts in clinical decision support systems: A scoping review. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics(Print)*. 2022 Jun;290:380-4. doi:10.3233/shti220101.

Weingart SN, Toth M, Sands DZ, Aronson MD, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Physicians' decisions to override computerized drug alerts in primary care. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 2003 Nov;163(21):2625-31. doi:10.1001/archinte.163.21.2625.

Wong A, Seger DL, Slight SP, et al. Evaluation of 'definite' anaphylaxis drug allergy alert overrides in inpatient and outpatient settings. *Drug Safety*. 2017 Nov;41(3):297-302. doi:10.1007/s40264-017-0615-1.

Wong A, Amato MG, Seger DL, et al. Prospective evaluation of medication-related clinical decision support over-rides in the intensive care unit. *BMJ Quality & Safety*. 2018;27(9):718-724. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007531.

Wright A, McEvoy D, Aaron S, et al. Structured override reasons for drug-drug interaction alerts in electronic health records. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2019;26(10):934-42. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocz033.

Appendix B. Supplemental Articles on Patient Reasons for Declining Health or Healthcare Advice or Recommendations

Chandra IS, Kumar KL, Reddy MP, Reddy CMPK. Attitudes toward medication and reasons for noncompliance in patients with schizophrenia. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*. 2014;36(3):294-8. doi:10.4103/0253-7176.135383.

Drezner D, Youngster M, Klainer H, Youngster I. Maternal vaccinations coverage and reasons for noncompliance - a cross-sectional observational study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth (Online)*. 2020;20(1). doi:10.1186/s12884-020-03243-w.

Gong JM, Du J, Han D, Wang X, Qi S. Reasons for patient non-compliance with compression stockings as a treatment for varicose veins in the lower limbs: A qualitative study. *PloS One*. 2020;15(4):e0231218. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0231218.

Jin J, Sklar GE, Oh VMS, Li SC. Factors affecting therapeutic compliance: A review from the patient's perspective. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*. 2008 Feb;4(1):269-86. doi:10.2147/tcrm.s1458.

McNaughton R, Shucksmith J. Reasons for (non)compliance with intervention following identification of "high-risk" status in the NHS Health Check programme. *Journal of Public Health (Oxford, England)*. 2015 Jun;37(2):218-25. Epub 2014 Sep 18. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdu066.

Rahmatullah K, Qutubuddin M, Rehman RA, Ghafoor E, Riaz M. Assessment of factors associated with non-compliance to self-management practices in people with type 2 diabetes. *Cureus*. 2021 Oct;13(10):e18918. doi:10.7759/cureus.18918.

Uchino M, Yokoi N, Shimazaki J, Hori Y, Tsubota K. Adherence to eye drops usage in dry eye patients and reasons for non-compliance: A web-based survey. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 2022 Jan;11(2):367. doi:10.3390/jcm11020367.

References

¹ Dullabh P, Sandberg SF, Heaney-Huls K, et al. Challenges and opportunities for advancing patientcentered clinical decision support: findings from a horizon scan. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2022;29(7):1233-43. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocac059.

² Russ-Jara AL, Elkhadragy N, Arthur KJ, et al. Cognitive task analysis of clinicians' drug-drug interaction management during patient care and implications for alert design. *BMJ Open*.
2023 Dec;13(12):e075512. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2023-075512.

³ Syrowatka A, Motala A, Lawson E, Shekelle PG. Making Healthcare Safer IV: Computerized Clinical Decision Support To Prevent Medication Errors and Adverse Drug Events. Rapid Review. (Prepared by the Southern California Evidence-Based Practice Center under Contract No. 75Q80120D00003.) AHRQ Publication No. 24-EHC019-6. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; February 2024. <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/mhs4-computerized-cds-rapid-research.pdf</u>.

⁴ McCoy AB, Thomas EJ, Krousel-Wood M, Sittig DF. Clinical decision support alert appropriateness: A review and proposal for improvement. *Ochsner J*. 2014;14(2):195-202.

⁵ Weingart SN, Toth M, Sands DZ, Aronson MD, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Physicians' decisions to override computerized drug alerts in primary care. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 2003 Nov;163(21):2625-31. doi:10.1001/archinte.163.21.2625.

⁶ Wright A, McEvoy DS, Aaron S, et al. Structured override reasons for drug-drug interaction alerts in electronic health records. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2019;26(10):934-42. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocz033.

⁷ Wright A, Ai A, Ash J, et al. Clinical decision support alert malfunctions: analysis and empirically derived taxonomy. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2018;25(5):496-506. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocx106.

⁸ Nanji KC, Slight SP, Seger DL, Cho I, Fiskio JM, Redden LM, Volk LA, Bates DW. Overrides of medication-related clinical decision support alerts in outpatients. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2014;21(3), 487–91. https://doi.org/10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001813.

⁹ Liu S, McCoy AB, Peterson JF, et al. Leveraging explainable artificial intelligence to optimize clinical decision support. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. Epub 2024 Feb 22. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocae019.

¹⁰ Seidling HM, Paterno MD, Haefeli WE, Bates DW. Coded entry versus free-text and alert overrides: What you get depends on how you ask. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*. 2010;79(11):792-6. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.003.

¹¹ Ancker JS, Edwards A, Nosal S, et al. Effects of workload, work complexity, and repeated alerts on alert fatigue in a clinical decision support system [published correction appears in BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2019 Nov 18;19(1):227]. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*. 2017 Apr;17(1):36. doi:10.1186/s12911-017-0430-8.

¹² Légat L, Van Laere S, Nyssen M, Steurbaut S, Dupont AG, Cornu P. Clinical decision support systems for drug allergy checking: Systematic review. *J Med Internet Res*. 2018 Sep;20(9):e258. doi:10.2196/jmir.8206.

¹³ Clinical Decision Support Innovation Collaborative. Patient-Centered CDS for Postpartum Hypertension Monitoring. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Published September 28, 2022. <u>https://cdsic.ahrq.gov/cdsic/patient-centered-cds-postpartum-hypertension-monitor</u>.

¹⁴ Dullabh P. Grand challenges and opportunities for patient-centered CDS. Healthcare IT News. November 1, 2022. Accessed from: https://www.healthcareitnews.com/blog/grand-challenges-and-opportunities-patient-centered-cds.

¹⁵ US Preventive Services Task Force, Davidson KW, Mangione CM, et al. Collaboration and shared decision-making between patients and clinicians in preventive health care decisions and US Preventive Services Task Force recommendations. *JAMA*. 2022 Mar;327(12):1171-6. doi:10.1001/jama.2022.3267.

¹⁶ Hsieh TC, Kuperman GJ, Jaggi T, et al. Characteristics and consequences of drug allergy alert overrides in a computerized physician order entry system. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2004;11(6):482-91. doi:10.1197/jamia.M1556.

¹⁷ Sittig DF, Boxwala A, Wright A, et al. A lifecycle framework illustrates eight stages necessary for realizing the benefits of patient-centered clinical decision support. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2023;30(9):1583-9. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocad122.

¹⁸ Liu S, McCoy AB, Wright AP, Nelson SD, Huang SS, Ahmad HB, Carro SE, Franklin J, Brogan J, Wright A. Why do users override alerts? Utilizing large language model to summarize comments and optimize clinical decision support. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2024 Jun;31(6):1388-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocae041</u>.

¹⁹ Villa-Zapata L, Subbian V, Boyce RD, et al. Overriding drug-drug interaction alerts in clinical decision support systems: A scoping review. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics(Print)*. 2022 Jun;290:380-4. doi:10.3233/shti220101.

²⁰ Teixeira V, Mori A, Usera A, Bacigalupo JC, Luna D. Performance evaluation of Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS): Developing a Business Intelligence (BI) dashboard. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*. 2019 Aug;264:829-33. doi:10.3233/shti190339.

²¹ Van De Sijpe G, Quintens C, Walgraeve K, et al. Overall performance of a drug–drug interaction clinical decision support system: Quantitative evaluation and end-user survey. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*. 2022;22(1). doi:10.1186/s12911-022-01783-z.

²² Edrees H, Amato MG, Wong A, Seger DL, Bates DW. High-priority drug-drug interaction clinical decision support overrides in a newly implemented commercial computerized provider order-entry system: Override appropriateness and adverse drug events. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2020;27(6):893-900. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocaa034.

²³ Alanazi A, Alalawi W, Aldosari B. An evaluation of drug-drug interaction alerts produced by clinical decision support systems in a tertiary hospital. *Cureus*. 2023 Aug. doi:10.7759/cureus.43141.

²⁴ Grizzle AJ, Mahmood M, Ko Y, et al. Reasons provided by prescribers when overriding drug-drug interaction alerts. *Am J Manag Care*. 2007;13(10):573-8. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17927462</u>.

²⁵ Ahn EK, Cho S, Shin D, Jang CH, Park RW. Differences of reasons for alert overrides on contraindicated co-prescriptions by admitting department. *Healthcare Informatics Research*. 2014;20(4):280. doi:10.4258/hir.2014.20.4.280.

²⁶ Nanji KC, Seger DL, Slight SP, et al. Medication-related clinical decision support alert overrides in inpatients. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2017;25(5):476-81. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocx115.

²⁷ Poly TN, Islam M, Yang HC, Li YC. Appropriateness of overridden alerts in computerized physician order entry: Systematic review. *JMIR Medical Informatics*. 2020;8(7):e15653. doi:10.2196/15653.

²⁸ Wong A, Amato MG, Seger DL, et al. Prospective evaluation of medication-related clinical decision support over-rides in the intensive care unit. *BMJ Quality & Safety*. 2018;27(9):718-724. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007531.

²⁹ Luri M, Gastaminza G, Idoate A, Ortega A. Allergic adverse drug events after alert overrides in hospitalized patients. *Journal of Patient Safety*. 2022;18(6):630-6. doi:10.1097/pts.000000000001034.

³⁰ Wong A, Seger DL, Slight SP, et al. Evaluation of 'definite' anaphylaxis drug allergy alert overrides in inpatient and outpatient settings. *Drug Safety*. 2017 Nov;41(3):297-302. doi:10.1007/s40264-017-0615-1.

³¹ Topaz M, Seger DL, Lai KH, et al. High Override rate for opioid drug-allergy interaction alerts: Current trends and recommendations for future. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*. 2015;216:242-6. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26262047</u>.

³² Straichman YZ, Kurnik D, Matok I, et al. Prescriber response to computerized drug alerts for electronic prescriptions among hospitalized patients. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*. 2017;107:70-5. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.08.008.

³³ Shah SN, Amato MG, Garlo K, Seger DL, Bates DW. Renal medication-related clinical decision support (CDS) alerts and overrides in the inpatient setting following implementation of a commercial electronic health record: Implications for designing more effective alerts. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2021;28(6):1081-7. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocaa222.

³⁴ Cho I, Slight SP, Nanji KC, et al. Understanding physicians' behavior toward alerts about nephrotoxic medications in outpatients: a cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Nephrology*. 2014;15(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2369-15-200.

³⁵ Litzelman DK, Tierney WM. Physicians' reasons for failing to comply with computerized preventive care guidelines. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 1996;11(8):497-9. doi:10.1007/bf02599049.

³⁶ Goldspiel BR, Flegel WA, DiPatrizio G, et al. Integrating pharmacogenetic information and clinical decision support into the electronic health record. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2014;21(3):522-8. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001873.

³⁷ Identified from crowdsourcing.

³⁸ O'Connor SD, Sodickson AD, Ip IK, et al. JOURNAL CLUB: Requiring clinical justification to override repeat imaging decision support: Impact on CT use. *American Journal of Roentgenology*. 2014 Oct;203(5):W482-90. doi:10.2214/AJR.14.13017.

³⁹ Liu S, McCoy AB, Wright AP, et al. Why do users override alerts? Utilizing large language model to summarize comments and optimize clinical decision support. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. Epub 2024 Mar 7. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocae041.

⁴⁰ Sapienza A, Falcone R. The role of trust in COVID-19 vaccine acceptance: Considerations from a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2022 Dec;20(1):665. doi:10.3390/ijerph20010665.

⁴¹ Edrees H, Amato MG, Wong A, Seger DL, Bates DW. High-priority drug-drug interaction clinical decision support overrides in a newly implemented commercial computerized provider order-entry system: Override appropriateness and adverse drug events. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2020 Jun;27(6):893–900. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocaa034.

⁴² Luri M, Leache L, Gastaminza G, Idoate A, Ortega A. A systematic review of drug allergy alert systems. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*. 2022;159:104673. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104673.

⁴³ Nanji KC, Seger DL, Slight SP, Amato MG, Beeler PE, Her QL, Dalleur O, Eguale T, Wong A, Silvers ER, Swerdloff M, Hussain ST, Maniam N, Fiskio JM, Dykes PC, Bates DW. Medication-related clinical decision support alert overrides in inpatients. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2018 May;25(5):476–81. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocx115.

⁴⁴ Pavlikova B, van Dijk JP. Jehovah's Witnesses and their compliance with regulations on smoking and blood treatment. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021 Dec;19(1):387. doi:10.3390/ijerph19010387.

⁴⁵ McNaughton R, Shucksmith J. Reasons for (non)compliance with intervention following identification of "high-risk" status in the NHS Health Check programme. *Journal of Public Health (Oxford, England)*. 201 Jun;37(2):218-25. Epub 2014 Sep 18. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdu066.

⁴⁶ Dullabh P, Heaney-Huls K, Lobach DF, et al. The technical landscape for patient-centered CDS: Progress, gaps, and challenges. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 2022;29(6):1101-5. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocac029.

⁴⁷ Jin J, Sklar GE, Oh VMS, Li SC. Factors affecting therapeutic compliance: A review from the patient's perspective. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*. 2008 Feb;4(1):269-86. doi:10.2147/tcrm.s1458.

⁴⁸ Rahmatullah K, Qutubuddin M, Rehman RA, Ghafoor E, Riaz M. Assessment of factors associated with non-compliance to self-management practices in people with type 2 diabetes. *Cureus*. 2021 Oct;13(10):e18918. doi:10.7759/cureus.18918.

⁴⁹ HL7. HL7 CDS Hooks. <u>https://cds-hooks.hl7.org/</u>. Accessed April 24, 2024.